12-28-2017

## State v. Linford Appellant's Brief Dckt. 45358

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case

In Bannock County Case CR 2013-1187, Supreme Court Docket Number 45358, Ms. Linford was sentenced to a unified sentence of seven years, with three years fixed following her guilty plea to one count of delivery of a controlled substance. In Bannock County Case CR 2014-13658, Supreme Court Docket Number 45359, she was sentenced to a unified sentence of six years, with three years fixed, following her guilty plea to possession of a controlled substance, methamphetamine. On appeal, Ms. Linford asserts that the district court should have

granted her Rule 35 Motion filed in CR 2013-1187. She has also appealed from the Order on Motion for Credit for Time Served in both cases.

Statement of the Facts & Course of Proceedings

Bannock County Case CR 2013-1187, Supreme Court Docket Number 45358

On February 28, 2013, a Prosecuting Attorney's Information was filed charging Ms. Linford with two counts of delivery of a controlled substance. (R., pp.66-67.) A Prosecuting Attorney's Information Part II also charged Ms. Linford with a sentencing enhancement for a second or subsequent drug offense. (R., pp.68-69.) Eventually, she entered a guilty plea to one count of delivery of a controlled substance and was sentenced to a unified sentence of seven years, with three years fixed, jurisdiction retained for 365 days. (R., pp.89-90.) After successfully completing a period of retained jurisdiction, Ms. Linford was placed on probation for a five year term. (R., pp.122-126.)

In October of 2014, a Report of Probation Violation was filed. (R., pp.134-135.) Ms. Linford admitted to violating the terms of her probation, her probation was revoked, and she was allowed another opportunity to complete a period of retained jurisdiction. (R., pp.162-163, 168-172.) After successfully completing a second period of probation, Ms. Linford was placed on probation for a new five year term. (R., pp.183-184.)

In July of 2016, another Report of Probation Violation was filed. (R., pp.195-196.) Ms. Linford admitted to violating the terms of her probation and her probation was continued. (R., pp.201-202.)

A Report of Probation Violation was filed again in May of 2017. (R., pp.215-217.) After admitting to violating the terms of her probation, probation was revoked and her sentence was

reinstated. (R., pp.225-228.) Ms. Linford filed a timely Rule 35 Motion. (R., p.230.) She also filed a Motion to Calculate, And Issue Credit for Time Served. (R., p.234.) The district court provided an Order on Motion for Credit for Time Served. (R., pp.236-237.) Following a hearing on the motions, the district court determined that the previous order on credit for time served was appropriate and denied the Rule 35 Motion. (R., p.241.) Ms. Linford filed a Notice of Appeal timely from the Minute Entry and Order (denying the Rule 35 Motion) and the Order on Motion for Credit for Time Served. (R., pp.243-244.)

Bannock County Case CR 2014-13658, Supreme Court Docket Number 45359

On October 9, 2014, a Prosecuting Attorney's Information was filed charging Ms. Linford with possession of a controlled substance, methamphetamine. (R., pp.292-293.) A Prosecuting Attorney's Information Part II also charged Ms. Linford with a sentencing enhancement for a second or subsequent drug offense. (R., pp.294-295.) Eventually, she entered a guilty plea and was sentenced to a unified sentence of six years, with three years fixed, jurisdiction retained for 365 days. (R., pp.335-338, 345-349.) After successfully completing a period of retained jurisdiction, Ms. Linford was placed on probation for a five year term. (R., pp.379-381.)

In July of 2016, another Report of Probation Violation was filed. (R., pp.390-391.) Ms. Linford admitted to violating the terms of her probation and her probation was continued. (R., pp.395-397.)

A Report of Probation Violation was filed again in May of 2017. (R., pp.405-407.) After admitting to violating the terms of her probation, probation was revoked and her sentence was reinstated. (R., pp.413, 415-418.) Ms. Linford filed a Motion to Calculate, And Issue Credit for Time Served. (R., p.420.) The district court provided an Order on Motion for Credit for Time

Served. (R., pp.422-423.) Ms. Linford filed a Notice of Appeal timely from the Order on Motion for Credit for Time Served. (R., pp.425-426.)

### ISSUES

- I. Did the district court abuse its discretion when it denied Ms. Linford's Idaho Criminal Rule 35 Motion for a Reduction of Sentence in Bannock County Case CR 2013-1187, Supreme Court Docket Number 45358?
- II. Did the district court err in granting credit for time served in both Bannock County Case CR 2013-1187, Supreme Court Docket Number 45358 and CR 2014-13658, Supreme Court Docket Number 45359?

### ARGUMENT

#### I.

#### The District Court Abused Its Discretion When It Denied Mr. Linford's Rule 35 Motion For A Reduction Of Sentence In Bannock County Case CR 2013-1187, Supreme Court Docket Number 45358

A motion to alter an otherwise lawful sentence under Rule 35 is addressed to the sound discretion of the sentencing court, and essentially is a plea for leniency which may be granted if the sentence originally imposed was unduly severe. *State v. Trent*, 125 Idaho 251, 253 (Ct. App. 1994) (citing *State v. Forde*, 113 Idaho 21 (Ct. App.1987) and *State v. Lopez*, 106 Idaho 447 (Ct. App. 1984)). "The criteria for examining rulings denying the requested leniency are the same as those applied in determining whether the original sentence was reasonable." *Id.* (citing *Lopez*, 106 Idaho at 450).

The Idaho Supreme Court has held that, "[w]here a sentence is within statutory limits, an appellant has the burden of showing a clear abuse of discretion on the part of the court imposing the sentence.'" *State v. Jackson*, 130 Idaho 293, 294 (1997) (quoting *State v. Cotton*, 100 Idaho 573, 577 (1979)). In order to show an abuse of discretion, Ms. Linford must show that in light of

the governing criteria, the sentence was excessive considering any view of the facts. *Id.* (citing *State v. Broadhead*, 120 Idaho 141, 145 (1991), *overruled on other grounds by State v. Brown*, 121 Idaho 385 (1992)). “When presenting a Rule 35 motion, the defendant must show that the sentence is excessive in light of new or additional information subsequently provided to the district court in support of the Rule 35 motion.” *State v. Huffman*, 144 Idaho 201, 203 (2007).

Appellate courts use a three-part test for determining whether a district court abused its discretion: (1) whether the court correctly perceived that the issue was one of discretion; (2) whether the court acted within the outer boundaries of its discretion and consistently with the legal standards applicable to the specific choices available to it; and (3) whether it reached its decision by an exercise of reason. *State v. Stevens*, 146 Idaho 139, 143 (2008) (citing *Sun Valley Shopping Ctr., Inc. v. Idaho Power Co.*, 119 Idaho 87, 94 (1991)).

Mindful that Ms. Linford provided no new or additional information in support of her Rule 35 Motion, she asserts that the district court abused its discretion in denying the motion. In the motion, Ms. Linford requested leniency. (R., p.230.) At the hearing on the motion, defense counsel noted that Ms. Linford was asking for a reduction in her fixed time and for the district court show her mercy. (Tr., p.15, Ls.23-25.)

Based upon the information presented, Ms. Linford asserts that the district court abused its discretion in denying her Rule 35 motion.

## II.

### The District Court Erred In Granting For Credit For Time Served In Both Bannock County Case CR 2013-1187, Supreme Court Docket Number 45358 and CR 2014-13658, Supreme Court Docket Number 45359

A determination as to “[w]hether the district court properly applied the law governing credit for time served is a question of law over which” appellate courts exercise free

review. *State v. Covert*, 143 Idaho 169, 170 (Ct. App. 2006). On appeal, the appellate court will “defer to the district court’s findings of fact, however, unless those findings are unsupported by substantial and competent evidence in the record and are therefore clearly erroneous.” *Id.* The Court exercises “free review over statutory interpretation because it is a question of law.” *State v. Owens*, 158 Idaho 1, 3 (2015).

The Idaho Criminal Rules specifically provide that a defendant may file a motion to correct the calculation of credit at any time. I.C.R. 35(c). Further, as the Idaho Court of Appeals has recently made clear, “the language of I.C. § 18-309 is mandatory and requires that, in sentencing a criminal defendant or (as in this case) when hearing an I.C.R. 35(c) motion for credit for time served, the court give the appropriate credit . . . .” *State v. Moore*, 156 Idaho 17, 20-21 (Ct. App. 2014). “This means that the defendant is entitled to credit for all time spent incarcerated,” as defined by the statute. *Id.*

Mindful that Ms. Linford was granted all of the credit for time served that she was due (Tr., p.16, Ls.5-10), she has appealed from that decision. She asserts that the district court erred in entering the order and, presumably, in not granting her additional credit for time served.

CONCLUSION

In Bannock County Case CR 2013-1187, Supreme Court Docket Number 45358, Ms. Linford respectfully requests that the order denying her Rule 35 motion be vacated and the case remanded to the district court for further proceedings. In both Bannock County Case CR 2013-1187, Supreme Court Docket Number 45358, and Bannock County Case CR 2014-13658, Supreme Court Docket Number 45359, Ms. Linford requests that additional credit for time served be awarded.