Uldaho Law **Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law**

Not Reported

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

1-26-2018

State v. Linford Respondent's Brief Dckt. 45358

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In 2013, Linford pled guilty to delivery of Oxycodone in case number 45358 and the district court imposed a unified sentence of seven years, with three years fixed, and retained jurisdiction. (R., pp.112-18.) The judgment of conviction was entered on July 31, 2013. (R.,

p.112.) Linford filed a Rule 35 motion for a reduction of sentence 13 days later, on August 13, 2013. (R., pp.136-37.) Following the period of retained jurisdiction, on December 16, 2013, the district court suspended Linford's sentence and placed her on supervised probation for five years. (R., pp.122-29.)

In 2014, Linford violated her probation in case number 45358, in part by committing the new crime of possession of methamphetamine in case number 45359. (R., pp.134-35, 168-74, 271-72, 292-93.) The district court revoked Linford's probation in case number 45358, executed the underlying sentence, and retained jurisdiction a second time. (R., pp.168-74.) In case number 45359, Linford pled guilty to possession of methamphetamine and the district court imposed a unified sentence of six years, with three years fixed, and retained jurisdiction. (R., pp.345-51.) Following the period of retained jurisdiction, in December 2015, the district court suspended Linford's sentences and placed her on supervised probation for five years. (R., pp.183-86, 379-82.)

Linford again violated her probation approximately seven months later and, on August 22, 2016, the district court reinstated her on supervised probation for three years (thus shortening the probationary period by approximately 15 months). (R., pp.201-04, 395-98.) Linford subsequently violated her probation a third time and, on June 21, 2017, the district court entered orders revoking Linford's probation and executing the underlying sentences. (R., pp.225-29, 415-19.) Twelve days later, on July 3, 2017, Linford filed a second Rule 35 motion for a reduction of sentence in case number 45358. (R., pp.230-31.) On July 12, 2017, she filed a motion for credit for time served in both cases. (R., pp.234-35, 420-21.) On July 19, 2017, the district court entered orders granting Linford 392 days of credit for time served in case number 45358 and 245 days of credit for time served in case number 45359. (R., pp.236-38, 422-24.) A

hearing on Linford's Rule 35 motion for sentence reduction was held on July 31, 2017, and the district court denied the motion. (R., pp.241-42.) On August 27, 2017, Linford filed a notice of appeal in each case, timely from the district court's order granting her credit for time served in both cases, and also timely from the district court's order denying her Rule 35 motion in case number 45358. (R., pp.243-45, 425-27.)

On appeal, Linford contends that the district court abused its discretion by denying her second Rule 35 motion in case number 45358. She also asserts that the district court erred by granting her motions for credit for time served in both cases.

ARGUMENT

I

<u>Linford Has Failed To Establish That The District Court Abused Its Discretion By Denying Her</u> <u>Second Rule 35 Motion For A Reduction Of Sentence</u>

"Mindful that [she] provided no new or additional information in support of her Rule 35 motion" for a reduction of sentence, Linford nevertheless asserts that the district court abused its discretion by denying her second Rule 35 motion because she asked "for the district court [to] show her mercy." (Appellant's brief, pp.4-5.) The district court's order denying Linford's Rule 35 motion should be affirmed because the district court lacked jurisdiction to consider it.

Idaho Criminal Rule 35 provides both that a district court may reduce a sentence within 120 days after judgment and that a motion for reduction may be made within 120 days after judgment. "A defendant may only file one motion seeking a reduction of sentence." I.C.R. 35(b). The prohibition of successive motions under Rule 35 is a jurisdictional limit. State v. Bottens, 137 Idaho 730, 52 P.3d 875 (Ct. App. 2002).

Linford filed her first Rule 35 motion for a reduction of sentence on August 13, 2013. (R., p.136.) A hearing on the motion was set for November 25, 2013; however, that hearing was

later vacated. (R., pp.6, 140-41.) It does not appear that further action was taken on the motion until May 20, 2015, when a Rule 35 hearing was again set – for June 15, 2015. (R., pp.179-80.) A Rule 35 hearing was actually held on May 26, 2015, at which time the district court entered an order purporting to hold Linford's Rule 35 motion "in abeyance until further notice by counsel for the Defendant." (R., pp.181-82.) Although it appears that the district court subsequently reduced Linford's probationary period from five years to three years upon reinstating her probation in August 2016 – effectively shortening the probationary period by approximately 15 months – the minute entry of the disposition hearing does not indicate that the reduction was pursuant to a Rule 35 request; as such, it does not appear from the record that any further action was taken on Linford's first Rule 35 motion. (R., pp.183-86, 201-04.) Linford filed a second Rule 35 motion for a reduction of sentence on July 3, 2017. (R., pp.230-31.) Because a defendant may only file one motion seeking a reduction of sentence, Linford's second Rule 35 motion was an improper successive 1 motion, prohibited by the rule. I.C.R. 35(b); Bottens, 137 Idaho 730, 52 P.3d 875. As such, the district court lacked jurisdiction to consider Linford's successive Rule 35 motion and the district court's order denying the motion should be affirmed.

Even if this Court determines that the district court had jurisdiction to consider Linford's July 3, 2017 Rule 35 motion for sentence reduction, Linford has still failed to establish an abuse

¹ Even if the district court held Linford's first Rule 35 motion in abeyance and treated Linford's second Rule 35 motion as an amended Rule 35 motion, the court lacked jurisdiction to consider Linford's request for sentence reduction because it did not rule on her motion until almost four years after the original motion was filed – over three and one-half years beyond the 120-day filing deadline. (R., pp.136, 241.) The district court will lose jurisdiction to rule upon a timely filed Rule 35 motion if it does not act upon the motion within a "reasonable time" beyond the stated filing deadline. See State v. Chapman, 121 Idaho 351, 352, 825 P.2d 74, 75 (1992); State v. Tranmer, 135 Idaho 614, 616, 21 P.3d 936, 938 (Ct. App. 2001).

of discretion. In State v. Huffman, 144 Idaho 201, 203, 159 P.3d 838, 840 (2007), the Idaho Supreme Court observed that a Rule 35 motion "does not function as an appeal of a sentence." The Court noted that where a sentence is within statutory limits, a Rule 35 motion is merely a request for leniency, which is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. Id. Thus, "[w]hen presenting a Rule 35 motion, the defendant must show that the sentence is excessive in light of new or additional information subsequently provided to the district court in support of the Rule 35 motion." Id. Absent the presentation of new evidence, "[a]n appeal from the denial of a Rule 35 motion cannot be used as a vehicle to review the underlying sentence." Id. Accord State v. Adair, 145 Idaho 514, 516, 181 P.3d 440, 442 (2008).

On appeal, Linford acknowledges that she provided no new or additional information in support of her Rule 35 motion for a reduction of sentence. (Appellant's brief, p.5.) Because Linford presented no new evidence in support of her Rule 35 motion, she failed to demonstrate in the motion that her sentence was excessive. Having failed to make such a showing, she has failed to establish any basis for reversal of the district court's order denying her Rule 35 motion for a reduction of sentence.

Linford Has Failed To Establish That The District Court Erred By Granting Her Motions For Credit For Time Served In Case Numbers 45358 And 45359

"Mindful that [she] was granted all of the credit for time served that she was due," Linford nevertheless contends that the district court "erred in entering the order[s]" granting her motions for credit for time served in case numbers 45358 and 45359, "presumably" by "not granting her additional credit for time served." (Appellant's brief, pp.5-6.) Linford offers no argument in support of her claim. (Appellant's brief, pp.5-6.)

"When issues on appeal are not supported by proposition of law, authority, or argument,

they will not be considered." State v. Zichko, 129 Idaho 259, 263, 923 P.2d 966, 970 (1996)

(citing I.A.R. 35; Langley v. State Indus. Special Indem. Fund, 126 Idaho 781, 784, 890 P.2d

732, 735 (1995)). A party waives an issue on appeal if either authority or argument is lacking,

not just if both are lacking. Id. Because Linford has not presented, on appeal, any argument to

support her claim that the district court erred by granting her credit for time served in case

numbers 45358 and 45359 (and in fact acknowledges that she has already been granted all of the

credit for time served that she was due), she has waived the issue and this Court should decline

to consider it.

Conclusion

The state respectfully requests this Court to affirm the district court's order denying

Linford's Rule 35 motion for a reduction of sentence in case number 45358 and the district

court's orders granting Linford credit for time served in case numbers 45358 and 45359.